# The University of Tennessee at Martin

# **Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee**

**Bylaws** 



OFFICE OF RESEARCH, OUTREACH, AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

100 Hall Moody Administration Martin, TN 38238 (731) 881-7015

Revised and Approved October 6, 2022

PREAMBLE	3
IACUC MEMBERSHIP	3
RULES OF ORDER	5
PROTOCOL REVIEW PROCEDURES	6
PROGRAM AND FACILITIES REVIEW	9
ANNUAL REPORTS	10
TRAINING	10
NONCOMPLIANCE	11
AMENDMENTS	12
APPENDIX	12

# PREAMBLE

The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) is responsible for overseeing the use of animals and animal facilities, and for the review of basic science and biomedical research and teaching activities involving animals conducted at, or in association with the University of Tennessee at Martin (UTM). Members of the IACUC are appointed by the Chancellor of UTM or designate. The IACUC ensures animal care and use is in compliance with all federal, state, and local regulations as well as University policy and assurance to the Office for Protection from Research Risks. The basis of compliance is determined by the Federal Animal Welfare Act (P.L. 89-544) and amendments, the ILAR Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, the Guide for the Care and Use of Agriculture Animals in Agricultural Research and Teaching, the Public Health Services (PHS) Policy on the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (hereafter called the PHS Policy), the Food and drug Administration (FDA) Good Laboratory Practices, and other applicable regulations. The IACUC is the principal advisory source on humane care and use of animals within the University and, as such, the appropriate body for reviewing and investigating concerns or complaints involving the appropriate care and use of animals. The Committee has the authority to negotiate modification, suspend or terminate animal use that is not in compliance with these regulations. The Committee shall review the University animal program semiannually and inspect all University animal facilities, and review and approve the care and use of all animals as described in animal use protocols. The Committee shall recommend to the designated institutional official changes and improvements to the university animal program or facilities necessary to maintain a high-quality animal use program in compliance with all appropriate regulations.

### As stated in the PHS Assurance Document, the IACUC shall:

- 1. Review the institution's program for humane care and use of animals at least once every six (6) months.
- 2. Inspect all the institution's animal facilities, including any appropriate satellite facilities at least once every six (6) months.
- 3. Review concerns involving the care and use of animals at the institution.
- 4. Make written recommendations to the appropriate Institutional Official regarding any aspect of the institution's animal program, facilities, or personnel training in their respective areas.
- 5. Review and approve, require modifications, or withhold approval of proposed initial protocol regarding the use of animals in ongoing activities as set forth in the PHS (Sec. IV, B).
- 6. Review and approve, require modification, or withhold approval of proposed significant changes regarding the use of animals in ongoing activities as set forth in the PHS (Sec. IV., B)
- 7. Notify investigators and the institution in writing of its decision to approve or withhold approval of those sections of protocols related to the care and use of animals or of modifications required to secure IACUC approval as set for the in the PHS Policy (Sec. IV., C)
- 8. Be authorized to suspend the use of animals.

# IACUC MEMBERSHIP

### A. Composition

The IACUC must be qualified through the experience, expertise, and diversity of its members to

maintain oversight of the use of animals, animal facilities, and to provide review of basic science and biomedical research and teaching animal use conducted within the University. All members shall be appointed by the UT Martin Chancellor (or his/her designee). The Committee will be composed of at least five (5) members including a veterinarian trained in laboratory animal care, at least one faculty member actively involved in animal research or teaching, one individual having no official affiliation with the University and non-family member affiliated with the University to represent the general community, and one individual whose primary vocation is nonscientific in nature. An individual who meets the requirements of more than one of the categories detailed in II.A. may fulfill more than one requirement. Excluding the laboratory animal veterinarian(s), no more than three members shall be from the same department.

As deemed necessary, the Committee may also call on consultants with a special expertise in areas of interest to the Committee.

### B. Officers and Responsibilities

- The office of Chair is appointed and voted on by the Committee and must be filled with an individual with previous experience on an IACUC. The Chair shall preside over IACUC meetings, approve minutes, and sign letters of correspondence and other official documents for the IACUC. Approval letters sent on behalf of the Chair shall be submitted through the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs.
- 2. The Vice Chair shall be appointed by the Institutional Official and shall serve as Chair in the absence of the IACUC Chair.
- 3. One of the University Veterinarians or his/her designee shall serve as a member of the IACUC. It is the responsibility of the University Veterinarian or his/her designee to provide veterinary review of protocols and to oversee the adequacy of all aspects of animal care and use.
- 4. Various University officials and specialists may be asked to serve as non-voting ex-officio members of the IACUC.
- 5. Administrative and clerical support for the IACUC is provided by the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs. These responsibilities include:
  - a. Recording and distributing minutes of IACUC meetings.
  - b. Preparing correspondence.
  - c. Preparing a roster of the IACUC members.
  - d. Assistance to the Institutional Official in preparing and submitting reports.
  - e. Issuing notices of meetings.
  - f. Preparing agendas for the presiding meetings.
  - g. Other related duties.

### C. Terms and Appointment

All voting members shall be appointed by the UT Martin Chancellor to serve staggered six-year terms except for the University Veterinary position, which is ex-officio. The position of the University Veterinarian is indefinite. Each University Veterinarian will serve alternating terms up to six (6) years. The UT Martin Chancellor may appoint members to fill the unexpired terms of members who have temporarily or permanently left who may fill the unexpired terms of members who have temporarily or permanently left the Committee. The Institutional Official will appoint a committee Chair and Vice

Chair who may fill these positions for two (2) years. An individual may not serve as Chair during his/her first or last year on the committee.

### D. Responsibilities of Members

The IACUC recognizes that University research scientists must conduct their research in a timely and responsible fashion. Therefore, to facilitate research while assuring animal welfare, the committee must conduct its business as efficiently as possible. This can only be accomplished y all Committee members participating fully in committee activities. Committee members should make every effort to attend and actively participate in all regularly scheduled meetings, promptly conduct complete reviews of assigned protocols, and participate in facility and program reviews. Committee members must also recognize the sensitive nature of committee activities and maintain confidentiality.

All IACUC members are expected to:

- 1. Complete the online Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative (CITI) modules on research involving animals. Required modules include *Working with the IACUC* and *Essentials for IACUC Members*.
- 2. Attend regularly scheduled meetings of the IACUC. Three (3) or more absences from scheduled meetings per year (except under documented extenuating circumstances) are unsatisfactory.
- 3. Review protocols (Refer to Section IV of this document) and any other meeting packet documents prior to regularly scheduled meetings.
- 4. Actively participate in animal facility inspection and review and sign facility inspection reports semiannually.
- 5. Maintain confidentiality about Committee activities.

The efficient operation of the IACUC depends on the full participation of its members. The name of any member who exhibits repeated unsatisfactory performance shall be submitted to the IACUC Chair. The Chair shall provide necessary documentation to the Chancellor or his/her designee who shall make the final decision regarding dismissal from the Committee.

# RULES OF ORDER

All meetings shall be governed by the Modern Edition of Robert's Rules of Order, except as otherwise indicated in the document.

### A. Regularly Scheduled Meeting

The IACUC shall schedule regular monthly meeting and post these dates on the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs web site. The meeting may be cancelled if the IACUC has no current business and may be rescheduled in extenuating circumstances. Emergency meetings may be called by the Chair or Vice Chair if required. An agenda listing all proposed activities involving the care and use of animals shall be provided to all IACUC members and IACUC ex-officio members before the scheduled meeting. The names of the reviewers to present the protocols will be provided with the agenda.

### B. Voting

A motion may only be passed at a convened meeting of a quorum of the IACUC if it receives the affirmative vote of a majority of the quorum present. A quorum means a simple majority of the members of the Committee. A tally of the numbers of members who vote for, against, or abstain from voting shall be recorded in the minutes. Any minority views shall also be recorded in the minutes. The Authorized Official serves in an *ex officio* manner and will not vote.

### C. Conflict of Interest

An IACUC member should not vote on protocols in which he/she is listed as an investigator. The member may provide information to the Committee if the Committee so desires. The member must be excused prior to voting on the associated protocol. No member may participate in the IACUC review or approval of an activity in which that member has a conflicting interest.

### D. Sub-committees

The IACUC Chair may appoint sub-committees, as deemed appropriate, to facilitate the business of the Committee. All members of sub-committees shall consist of members in good standing. Sub-committees shall report directly to the IACUC with recommendations or reports. No actions may be taken by the subcommittee without prior approval of a majority of the quorum at a convened IACUC meeting.

# PROTOCOL REVIEW PROCEDURES

The Federal Animal Welfare Act (P.I. 89-544) and amendments, the <u>Institute of Laboratory Animal</u> <u>Resources (ILAR) Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animal</u>, the <u>Guide for the Care and Use of</u> <u>Agricultural Animals in Agricultural Research and Teaching</u>, and the PHS Policy on the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals shall be used as basis for review.

### A. Principal Investigator (PI)

The principal investigator or faculty advisor of a graduate or undergraduate student conducting research or teaching involving live vertebrate animals shall submit a typed and signed protocol for the use of live vertebrate animals. Protocols requiring full review must be received in the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs seven (7) working days before the regularly scheduled IACUC meeting. Protocols requiring full review that are received less than seven (7) working days before the scheduled IACUC meeting shall be reviewed the following month.

Animals may not be procured until the protocol has been approved by the IACUC. The PI must receive protocol approval from the IACUC prior to conducting research with animals. Only personnel listed on the protocol have authorized access to animal facilities.

### B. Administrative Specialist of Research & Sponsored Programs

The Administrative Specialist of Research and Sponsored Programs accepts the protocol, stamps the completed protocol form with a date received, assigns an IACUC number, verifies Occupational Health

Program participation, and ensures that appropriate signatures are provided. The Administrative Specialist attached a review sheet, signs the review sheet with his/her name indicating that clerical review has been completed, and delivers the protocol to the IACUC Chair by the close of business on the day of receipt unless receipt is 4:30PM. In this case, the protocol will be delivered to the IACUC Chair by noon the following day (unless the next day is a weekend, or the University is closed).

### C. IACUC Chair

The IACUC Chair reviews the protocol for clarity and completeness (any required clarifications are discussed with the Committee Veterinarian). The protocol is forwarded to the Committee Veterinarian or his/her designee within one working day of receipt for veterinary review. If the protocol is incomplete, the Chair notifies the principal investigator and immediately returns the protocol with a listing of information or sections needed.

### D. Committee Veterinarian

The Committee Veterinarian or her/his designee assigns a category of ethical concerns and performs a veterinary review. The Committee Veterinarian shall make a determination regarding the category of ethical concern and return the protocol and veterinary review recommendation to the Chair.

### E. Designated Member Review Protocol

A designated review process can enable IACUCs to review and approve protocols faster than those presented for full committee review. Designated review in no way implies the quality of review is less stringent than a protocol reviewed by the full committee. Written descriptions of research projects that involve the care and use of animals must be made available to all IACUC members, and any member of the IACUC must have the opportunity to obtain, upon request, full committee review of those research projects. If full committee review is not requested, at least one member of the IACUC, designated by the Chair and qualified to conduct the review, shall review those activities, and shall have the authority to approve, require modification in (to secure approval), or request full committee review of any of those activities (PHS Policy IV,C,2; AWAR §2.31,d,2). The University of Tennessee at Martin has adopted the following criteria to determine the types of protocols eligible for a designated member review:

Designated member review protocols are those that are defined under Categories B, C, and D, if the protocol follows previously approved IACUC Guidelines. See Appendix X for an explanation of the Categories of Ethical Concern.

The following outlines the procedures and processes to be followed for a designated member review:

- 1. The ORSP Administrative Specialist makes copies of the cover page and the non-technical summary and circulates them to all members of the IACUC for review (copies of the complete protocol shall be available to any member who request it).
- 2. Any member may request a full committee review.
- 3. If no member requests a full committee review within seven (7) days of mailing, the protocol will be assigned by the Chair to a designated reviewer. The designated reviewer will review

the protocol and make one of three (3) decisions:

- i. approve protocol as written,
- ii. require the Principal Investigator to modify the protocol to receive approval, or
- iii. remand the protocol for full committee review.

If approved, the Chair sends a letter notifying the Principal Investigator. If not approved, the protocol is remanded to the full committee. Protocols are approved for a maximum of three (3) years. After three (3) years, the Principal Investigator will rewrite and resubmit the protocol for review.

### F. Full Committee Review

If full committee review is requested for a Designated Member Review Protocol, or if the protocol is not a designated review, the Chair assigns the protocol to a reviewer(s). The Administrative Specialist sends full copies of the protocol along with a Protocol Screening Form to the reviewer. Copies of the cover sheet and the non-technical summary are circulated to all other IACUC members. The designated reviewer(s) shall receive the protocol at least seven (7) working days before the scheduled meeting. If the reviewer(s) are unable to complete the review before the meeting, the reviewer(s) shall notify the Administrative Specialist within forty-eight (48) hours of receipt.

- 1. <u>Reviewer:</u> After initial review, the reviewer will communicate with the principal investigator and attempt to clarify any questions and resolve any minor problems. If major irresolvable problems exist, the principal investigator may be asked to attend the meeting. If more than one reviewer is assigned, they should discuss the protocol before the IACUC meeting. This communication may raise discrepancies in the protocol or resolve misunderstandings.
- Approval of protocols assigned for full committee review: Approval of protocols assigned for full committee review may be granted only after review at a convened meeting of a quorum of the IACUC and the approval vote of a simple majority of the quorum present. If approved, the Chair notifies the Principal Investigator in writing. Protocols are approved for a maximum of three (3) years. After three (3) years, the principal investigator will rewrite and resubmit the protocol for review.

### 3. Withholding approval of protocol assigned for full review:

If the IACUC decides to withhold approval, the Chair will notify the Principal Investigator in writing to include a statement of the reasons for its decision. The Principal Investigator will be given an opportunity to respond in person or in writing. The IACUC may reconsider its decision with documentation in committee minutes in light of the information provided by the Principal Investigator.

### G. Revisions

Revisions must be submitted to the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs in writing. Revisions consisting of minor changes may be approved by the Chair or designee. Significant changes will require a full or designated member review. Material from both the original and the revised protocol will be distributed to the IACUC members and reviewer(s).

### H. Procedures for the Annual Review of Protocols

Approved protocols must be reviewed at least annually. Therefore, at least four (4) weeks prior to the

anniversary date of an approved protocol, the Administrative Specialist shall send to the principal investigator an Annual Review of Protocol for Use of Live Vertebrates Form indicating that the annual review form must be completed and submitted to the Office Research and Sponsored Programs before the first day of the anniversary month.

The Administrative Specialist shall forward the annual review form to the Chair for action. The annual reviews approved by the Chair on behalf of the committee will be listed on the agenda and minutes of the next monthly meeting.

Administrative Review: Annual reviews consisting of minor changes may be approved by the Chair or his/her designee. Significant changes require a revision in writing and will be handled as in section G above.

### I. Production Agriculture Protocols (Work Plans)

Production agriculture protocols for animals housed on the University of Tennessee at Martin Teaching Farm are not included in the Animal Welfare Act or by the policies of the Public Health Service; Therefore, these protocols/work-plans will not be reviewed by the IACUC but will be reviewed by an existing process in the Department of Agriculture and Natural Resources' Agricultural Animal Care and Use Committee. A copy of the Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) for any species not covered by the Animal Welfare Act used in Agriculture classes may be obtained from the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs. The SOPs are designated to follow the *Guide for the Care and Use of Agricultural Animals in Agricultural Research and Teaching.* 

### PROGRAM AND FACILITIES REVIEW

### A. Program Review and Site Inspection

The IACUC shall review the University Animal Care and Use Program and all University animal facilities, as defined in the PHS Policy and the Animal Welfare Act, at least once every six (6) months. Site inspections shall be organized and coordinated by the IACUC. A sub-committee of the IACUC may be conducted the inspection, but any member wishing to participate may not be excluded and the program review and inspection report must be reviewed and approved by a majority of a quorum of the Committee at a convened meeting the IACUC and included any minority views. The sub-committee conduction the review and inspection must include at least two members. The sub-committee shall use the <u>ILAR Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals</u> as a standard for evaluating all laboratory animal facilities. Other guidelines and recommendations will be used as appropriate. <u>The Guide for the Care and Use of Agricultural Animals in Agricultural Research and Teaching</u> shall be used as a standard for the non-PHS supported research and teaching activities involving production agricultural animals.

### B. Program Review and Site Inspection Report

The IACUC shall review the Animal Care and Use Program and all University animal facilities, as defined in the PHS Policy and Animal Welfare Act, at least once every six months. A subcommittee of the IACUC may conduct the inspections, but the subcommittee must contain a minimum of two members and any member wishing to participate may not be excluded. The program review and inspection report must be reviewed and approved by a majority of a quorum of the Committee and include any minority views.

The Office of Research and Sponsored Programs shall prepare a written report based on the findings of these reviews. The report shall contain a description of the extent of each facility's adherences to the Federal Animal Welfare Regulations and shall distinguish significant deficiencies from minor deficiencies. A significant deficiency is one that, in the judgment of the IACUC and the Institutional Official, regarding the Animal Welfare Regulations, may be a threat to the health or safety of the animals. The IACUC shall include a plan of action with specific dates for correcting any deficiencies. Any failure to adhere to this plan that results in a significant deficiency remaining uncorrected shall be reported within fifteen (15) business days through the appropriate Institutional Official to United States Department of Agriculture, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS), Office for Protection from Research Risks (OPRR) and any federal agency funding the activity.

# ANNUAL REPORTS

### A. USDA, Regulatory Enforcement of Animal Care

Annual reports shall be prepared by the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs according to the provisions of 9CFR 2 (Subpart A, 2.36) and distributed to the IACUC. This report shall be submitted to the Institutional Official as appropriate. The reports are submitted to APHIS on or before December 1.

### B. PHS, OPRR

Annual reports shall be prepared by the Office of Research and Sponsored Program according to the requirements of the PHS Animal Welfare Policy (IV., F.) at least once every twelve (12) months. This report shall be provided to the IACUC following signatures by the Institutional Official. Reports will be submitted to OPRR. The IACUC, through the Institutional Official, shall provide OPRR with a full explanation of the circumstances and action regarding:

- 1. Serious or continuing noncompliance.
- 2. Serious deviations from the ILAR Guide.
- 3. Suspension of any PHS funded activity by the IACUC.
- 4. Minority opinions.

### TRAINING

### A. Committee Members

Committee members shall receive copies of these bylaws, the Animal Welfare Regulations, the PHS Policy, and other documents, as well as copies of individual policies developed by the IACUC regarding specific animal use issues. The University shall provide funding for training of IACUC members through the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs. Each year, two (2) members shall have the opportunity to attend an animal care and use meeting.

### B. Scientists, Research Assistants, and Animal Technicians

It is the responsibility of the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs to assure that all scientists, research technicians, animal technicians, and other personnel involved in animal care, treatment and use are qualified to perform their duties. The IACUC shall be responsible for reviewing and approving all teaching and training methods. Subcommittees of the IACUC may be appointed to develop specific training programs. All scientists, research technicians, animal technicians, and other personnel will be required to take the CITI Working with the IACUC Basic Course and any other modules identified at the time of proposal submission as aligning with their specific research project.

### C. Training and Instruction

Training and instruction shall be made available in areas of:

- 1. Humane methods of animal maintenance and experimentation, including:
  - i. The basic needs of each species of animal.
  - ii. Proper handling and restraint for the various species of animal used.
  - iii. Proper per-procedural and post-procedural care of animals.
- 2. Aseptic surgical methods and procedures.
- 3. The concept, availability, and use of research or testing methods that limit the use of animal or minimize animal distress.
- 4. Proper use of anesthetics, analgesics, and tranquilizers for any species of animals used.
- 5. Methods whereby deficiencies in animal care and treatment are reported, including deficiencies in animal care and treatment reported by any employee or student of the University.
- 6. Regulatory rules and policies governing the care and use of laboratory animals.

# NONCOMPLIANCE

### A. Distribution of Procedures for Reporting Non-Compliance

Everyone involved in animal care and use at the University shall receive a copy of the reporting procedure. These procedures will be posted in appropriate places where animal research and teaching are occurring and on the IACUC website.

### B. Procedures for Reporting Noncompliance with Laboratory Animal Care and Use Guidelines

- 1. Concerns or complaints regarding animal usage within UTM should be brought directly to the attention of the people involved whenever possible.
- 2. If the concerns or complaint cannot be handled directly, it may be handled in one of two ways:
  - a. If an emergency exists, the Committee Veterinarian should be contacted immediately. The individual with a concern or complaint should call the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs for the appropriate contact information. The Committee Veterinarian will take any necessary action.
  - b. If the situation is not an emergency, the concern or complaint should be submitted to the IACUC Chair. The Chair will assign an ad hoc committee to investigate the concern or complaint

during the next regularly scheduled meeting. The IACUC will determine what action will be taken and the Chair will notify the principal investigator of such action.

- 3. A written reply to those primarily involved and to the appropriate Institutional Official will follow each written concern or complaint submitted to the IACUC. All reports will be filed in the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs for documentation of the incident and the investigation.
- 4. No facility employee, student, IACUC member or laboratory personnel will be discriminated against, or be subjected to any reprisal for reporting suspected noncompliance.
- 5. The IACUC may suspend an activity that is previously approved if it determines that the activity is not being conducted in accordance with applicable provisions of the Animal Welfare Act, the Guide, and the Institution's Letter of Assurance with the National Institutes of Health.

### C. Suspension of Activity

If the IACUC suspends an activity due to continuing significant deficiencies in animal care and use, the Institutional Official in consultation with the IACUC shall review the reasons for suspensions, take appropriate corrective action, and report the action with a full explanation to USDA, Regulatory Enforcement of Animal Care, OPRR, and any agency funding the activity.

Any proposal for animal use approved by the IACUC may be subject to further approval by the Institutional Official. However, Institutional Official may not approve activities involving the care and use of animals that have not been approved by the IACUC.

### D. Investigator Appeal

The principal investigator of any activity that has been disapproved/suspended by the IACUC may appeal that action to the IACUC and request another review based on the a correction of misinformation or additional information not available at the time of the initial review.

### AMENDMENTS

Any member may request a review of any part of these bylaws. The review shall be conducted by an ad hoc sub-committee appointed by the Chair. The IACUC may amend these bylaws by a two-thirds vote at any meeting at which a quorum is present, providing that all IACUC members receive notification of the pending vote ten (10) working days prior to the meeting.

### APPENDIX

### **CLASSIFICATION OF PROTOCOLS (based on anticipated level of pain and distress)**

The following categories are based upon the relative level of pain, discomfort or distress that is associated with procedures commonly used in experimental animals. Category E requires full committee review and approval.

**Classification B:** Animals being bred, conditioned, or held for use in teaching, testing, experiments, research, or surgery, but not yet used for such purposes. **Examples:** 

- Breeding colonies of any animal species (USDA does not require listing of rats, mice, birds) that are held in legal sized caging and handled in accordance with the *Guide* and other applicable regulations. Breeding colony includes parents and offspring.
- Newly acquired animals that are held in proper caging and handled in accordance with applicable regulations.
- Animals held under proper captive conditions or wild animals that are being observed.

**Classification C:** Animals upon which teaching, research, experiments, or tests will be conducted involving no pain, distress, or use of pain-relieving drugs.

### Examples:

- Procedures performed correctly by trained personnel such as the administration of electrolytes/fluids, administration of oral medication, blood collection from a common peripheral vein per standard veterinary practice (dog cephalic, cat jugular) or catheterization of same, standard radiography, parenteral injections of non-irritating substances.
- Euthanasia performed in accordance with the recommendations of the most recent unconsciousness and subsequent humane death.
- Manual restraint that is no longer than would be required for a simple exam, short period of chair restraint for an adapted nonhuman primate.

**Classification D:** Animals upon which experiments, teaching, research, surgery, or tests will be conducted involving accompanying pain or distress to the animals and for which appropriate anesthetic, analgesic, or tranquilizing drugs will be used.

### Examples:

- Surgical procedures conducted by trained personnel in accordance with standard veterinary practice such as biopsies, gonadectomy, exposure of blood vessels, chronic catheter implantation, laparotomy, or laparoscopy.
- Blood collection by more invasive routes such as intracardiac or periorbital collection from species without a true orbital sinus such as rats and guinea pigs.
- Administration of drugs, chemicals, toxins, or organisms that would be expected to produce pain or distress, but which will be alleviated by analgesics.

**Classification E:** Animals upon which teaching, experiments, research, surgery, or tests will be conducted involving accompanying pain or distress to the animals and for which the use of appropriate anesthetic, analgesic, or tranquilizing drugs will adversely affect the procedures, results, or interpretation of the teaching, research, experiments, surgery, or tests.

### Examples:

- Procedures producing pain or distress unrelieved by analgesics such as toxicity studies, microbial virulence testing, radiation sickness, and research on stress, shock, or pain.
- Surgical and postsurgical sequella from invasion of body cavities, orthopedic procedures, dentistry or other hard or soft tissue damage that produces unrelieved pain or distress.
- Negative conditioning via electric shocks that would cause pain in humans.
- Chairing of nonhuman primates not conditioned to the procedure for the time period used.

**NOTE REGARDING CLASSIFICATION E:** An explanation of the procedures producing pain or distress in these animals and the justification for not using appropriate anesthetic, analgesic or tranquilizing drugs must be provided on **Attachment 1**. This information is required to be reported to the USDA, will be available from USDA under the Freedom of Information Act, and may be publicly available through the Internet via USDA's website.